IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

).	NO.	72701 Oct 20 2017 01:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
).))		
)		
) _)		
)))))

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

Attorney for Appellant

ADAM LAXALT
Attorney General
100 North Carson Street
Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717
(775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DONOVINE MATHEWS,) NO. 72701			
Appellant,)			
VS.)

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because Donovine went to trial and was convicted of a Category B felony:

Hereinafter, citations to the Appellant's Appendix will start with the volume number, followed by the specific page number. For example, (Appellant's Appendix Vol. II:449-50) will be shortened to (II:449-50).

Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment with Substantial Bodily Harm. See NRAP 17(b)(2).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The district court abused its discretion with respect to expert testimony.
- II. The district court abused its discretion with respect to reciprocal discovery.
- III. The district court unfairly restricted Donovine's right of cross-examination.
- IV. The district court improperly denied Donovine's requested jury instruction regarding accident/misfortune.
- V. The district court prevented Donovine from arguing his theory of the case in closing.
- VI. The district court's application of double standards throughout trial violated Donovine's rights to an impartial tribunal and equal protection under the laws.
- VII. Cumulative error requires reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 3, 2016, the State filed an information in district court, charging Donovine with one count of child abuse, neglect or endangerment with substantial bodily harm. (I:5-6). The State claimed that Donovine abused his girlfriend's 2-year old son CJ by intentionally burning his hands with hot water. (I:5-6). Donovine pled not guilty and invoked the 60-day rule. (II:460).

On March 24, 2016, the State identified Dr. Sandra Cetl and Phylip Peltier as expert witnesses who would testify that CJ's injuries were intentionally inflicted. (I:99-100). On March 31, 2016, Donovine waived the 60 day rule so he could retain his own expert to show that CJ's injuries were accidental. (II:461,496-97).

Donovine filed a discovery motion on May 23, 2016. (I:137-165). On July 14, 2016, the State opposed Donovine's discovery motion and moved for reciprocal discovery. (I:166-198). Although the court granted the State's motion without qualifications, it did not order the State to comply fully with NRS 174.235. (II:466-67).

Jury trial was scheduled to begin on October 25, 2016. (III:468). On October 3, 2016, Donovine filed a timely notice of expert witnesses pursuant to NRS 174.234(2), identifying Lindsey "Dutch" Johnson, Ph.D as a Forensic and Biomechanics Expert. (I:201).

On October 19, 2016, the State filed a motion to continue the trial based on alleged outstanding discovery related to the defense's biomechanics expert. (I:211-224). Donovine opposed the State's motion on October 21, 2016. (I:228-234). The court granted the State's request for a continuance. (II:473).

On December 16, 2016, the State filed a motion *in limine* to strike or limit the testimony of Donovine's biomechanics expert, Dr. Johnson. (I:239-50; II:251-259). Donovine opposed the motion on December 30, 2016 and supplemented his opposition on January 6, 2017. (II:361-86).

A five day jury trial began on January 9, 2017. (II:476-86(b)). On January 10, 2017, the district court began an evidentiary hearing to decide whether Dr. Johnson was qualified to give his expert opinion. (II:479). Before Dr. Johnson could finish laying the foundation for his testimony, the court asked him to step down and exit the courtroom. (II:479). The court ruled that Dr. Johnson could not testify because his opinion lacked "foundation". (II:479).

On the second day of trial, the State's child abuse expert, Dr. Cetl, testified that Donovine's accidental burn theory was "impossible". (V:1189-90). When Donovine asked that Dr. Johnson be permitted to refute Dr. Cetl's opinion, the court denied that request. (V:1189-90).

On the third day of trial, the State disclosed three pages of handwritten notes prepared by the State's burn expert Peltier. (II:481-82). Donovine moved for a mistrial, or in the alternative to exclude Peltier as a witness, or in the alternative to permit Dr. Johnson to testify. (II:482). The

court denied all three requests, finding that the State was never obligated to disclose Peltier's notes. (II:482).

After Peltier testified, directly refuting testimony that Dr. Johnson would have offered, Donovine renewed his request to present Dr. Johnson's testimony at trial. (II:482). The court denied Donovine's request. (II:482).

On the fourth day of trial, Donovine filed an offer of proof setting forth Dr. Johnson's anticipated testimony and laying additional foundation for such testimony. (II:387-408). Based on the offer of proof, Donovine again, renewed his request to have Dr. Johnson testify and the court, again, denied that request. (II:486).

On January 13, 2017, the jury convicted Donovine of the crime of child abuse, neglect or endangerment with substantial bodily harm (a category B felony). (II:448). In a Judgment of Conviction filed on March 10, 2017, the district court sentenced Donovine to 36-120 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. (II:449-50). Donovine's appeal was docketed in Nevada's Supreme Court on March 30, 2017. (II:455).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the morning of January 5, 2016, Donovine Mathews was at his girlfriend Jasmin Cathcart's apartment along with Jasmin and her two children: 2-year-old CJ and his 1-year-old sister, JJ. (V:1029-31).

Jasmin had an appointment at the apartment's main office at 9:00 a.m. and left her children with Donovine shortly before that appointment. (V:1017,1034). While Jasmin was gone, Donovine boiled some water in a pot on the stove and poured it into a black cup on the kitchen counter, intending to make some coffee. (V:1017; VII:1653-56). Donovine placed the mug in front of some cookies and candy that were sitting on the counter. (VII:1623-24,1657). Donovine then went into the bedroom to change JJ's diaper. (VII:1653,1656-57). While Donovine was checking JJ's diaper, he heard CJ screaming from the kitchen. (V:1017;VII:1653-54). When Donovine returned to the kitchen, he found CJ standing beside the spilled black cup, saying "It hot. My hand, my hand." (V:1017;VII:1653-54,1659,1670). Although Donovine did not see how the cup fell, CJ was tall enough to reach across the countertop on his tippy toes. (V:1072)

Donovine noticed that the backs of CJ's hands were burned and peeling, so he took CJ to the bathroom, removed his clothes, and put him in the bathtub with cold cool off his hands. some water to (VII:1654,1662,1670). Donovine called Jasmin and told her to come back to the apartment because CJ had "burned himself". (V:1036;VII:1654). While CJ cooled his hands in the tub, Donovine cleaned up the water in the kitchen and put the spilled cup in the sink. (VII:1670-72). Then, Donovine got CJ

out of the tub and put Neosporin on the backs of his hands. (VII:1625-28;1658). At some point, Donovine also put an ice pack on CJ's hands.² (State's Exhibit 2).

When Jasmin returned at around 9:23 a.m., Donovine told Jasmin what happened³ and Jasmine examined the burns on the back of CJ's hands. (V:1039;1043-44). Jasmin decided they needed to go to the hospital. (V:1039-40). Sunrise Hospital was only a 5-10 minute walk from Jasmin's apartment, so they walked there, with Donovine carrying CJ and Jasmin pushing JJ in a stroller, (V:1039-41).

Dr. Elis Olson was CJ's treating physician at the hospital. (VI:1403-04). After examining CJ, Dr. Olson diagnosed him with a combination of first and second degree burns to his hands. (VI:1406). Dr. Olson found the burns "suspicious for abuse and neglect" because one hand showed a "clear demarcation line" and because the burn patterns were "matching or symmetric". (VI:1409). Dr. Olson believed the burns were likely "emersion" burns – meaning the hands had been immersed in water. (VI:1409,1411). As

² Dr. Sandra Cetl confirmed that the blistering that later appeared on the backs of CJ's hands was the type that can occur when "something cold is applied right away. So cold water or something like that." (V:1151).

³ Jasmine testified that Donovine told her he was making coffee and set a cup of hot water "on the counter, and he went to go change [JJ's] diaper, and when he was dealing with her, [CJ] started crying, and obviously the burns were there." (V:1043-44).

required by law, Dr. Olson reported the suspicious burns so the LVMPD could begin an investigation. (VI:1403).

Later that day, Detective Philip DePalma was assigned to investigate the cause of CJ's burns. (VI:1326). At the hospital, Donovine gave a voluntary statement to DePalma, explaining how he had boiled water for coffee, poured it in a cup on the counter, filled the cup 75% full, left the room to check on JJ, and returned to find CJ standing in the kitchen with burns on his hands and the cup on the floor, (VI:1332;VII:1644-85).

After the interview, Donovine agreed to accompany DePalma back to Jasmin's apartment where he voluntarily performed a videotaped reenactment of the events leading up to and following CJ's accident in the kitchen. (VI:1337 and State's Exhibit 2). During the reenactment, Donovine showed DePalma the cup he had filled and where he placed it on the counter top. (VI:1342-45; VII:1639-40 and State's Exhibit 2). Police measured the height of the countertop. (VI:1349; VII:1621-22). Police measured the height and diameter of the black mug that Donovine identified, and the depth of the countertop. (VII:1629-38).

During the reenactment, it was apparent that DePalma did not believe Donovine's version of events. The cup identified by Donovine had a handle missing and food debris on the bottom. Donovine explained that he had used the bottom of the cup to crush up chips to make a spread. (State's Exhibit 2). Then, Donovine was unable to locate any coffee in the cupboards. (State's Exhibit 2). As Donovine searched for the coffee canister, DePalma asked Donovine, "Alright, come on man, what were you really doing, then? If there was no coffee in there, you were boiling water..." (State's Exhibit 2). But Donovine swore up and down that he thought there was coffee in the house. 4 (State's Exhibit 2).

DePalma then enlisted the help of "burn expert" Phylip Peltier and "child abuse evaluator" Dr. Sandra Cetl to confirm his suspicions about the cause of CJ's injuries. (V:1137; VI:1365-66). After consulting both Peltier and Cetl, DePalma booked Donovine into CCDC on child abuse charges. (VI:1367). Peltier and Cetl eventually became star witnesses in the case against Donovine.

State's "Burn Expert" - Phylip Peltier

Peltier received his Associates Degree in Criminal Justice from Mesa College in San Diego in 1974. (I:117). He worked as a police officer from 1974 until 1987, and as a DA investigator from 1987 until he retired in 2003. (I:114;V:1233-34). Peltier currently teaches, consults and testifies in cases

⁴ At trial, Jasmin testified that her father had taken the canister of coffee that he and Donovine shared, leaving only a small baggy of coffee behind. (V:1105-07). Jasmin later found that small baggy of coffee in the cupboard beneath the hot chocolate and Kool-Aid. (V:1105-07).

involving suspicious burn injuries based on a methodology that he developed while working in law enforcement. (I:114;VI:1272).

Peltier has no medical training. When the State asked Peltier about his training related to evaluating burn injuries, Peltier admitted "the training out there is essentially me. I've looked for specialized training. There really isn't any. Most of the training I've spoken to doctors and nurses, and they've told me about temperatures, there's been articles that I could read. When I've sought it out, it turns out that the presentations — I am the presentation, with all due respect." (V:1226).

Peltier's methodology involves conducting "experiments" to recreate the injuries he saw in a given case. (VI:1272-73). Based on his methodology, Peltier claims he can tell whether an injury is intentional. (VI:1272).

Peltier is known as the "blue dye guy" because many of his experiments involve putting blue dye in water and spilling it on a subject to see what kind of pattern is left behind. (VI:1290). Peltier does not perform these experiments in a lab with scientific controls; rather, he will "try to recreate the injury in the photograph" and will call his client back and say, "here's what we found out, it's totally accidental, we're not sure, they could be strong enough to do it, there's no way or 100 percent non-accidental." (VI:1274).

At trial, Peltier explained his methodology:

Just a three dollar package of Rit, either liquid or power, I stir it up. My student leave with blue hands, the doctors leave with blue hands because I make the students, the doctors, nurses, one time a judge; in my class, they have to make their hands look like the victim's in the photos.

(VI:1291).

Peltier teaches his students that "anyone" can use his blue dye method to recreate a burn pattern. (VI:1294). "I tell them in the class the advantage of this is, besides being inexpensive is \$3, anybody can use it, and medical, defense, everybody's used it to recreate, is that it takes a couple days to come off so it can be videotaped, it can be photographed." (VI:1294).

Unfortunately, in Peltier's field there are no "peers" to review his work because he is literally "the only person doing this type of burn stuff". (VI:1274). Naturally, Peltier testified that he can be 100% sure of his findings. (VI:1293).

When consulted in this case, Peltier *did not* perform any recreation experiments, nor did he examine CJ in person. (IV:1281,1291). His opinions at trial were based solely on his review of the photographs of CJ's injuries, information from the arrest report, and Donovine's voluntary statement. (IV:1279-80).

Peltier disagreed with CJ's treating physician that the burns were emersion burns. (VI:1255-56). Based on a photograph of the back of CJ's right hand, Peltier testified that the "burn seems to initiate just below the wrist near the thumb" and "flows toward the knuckles." (V:1248; State's Exhibit 8). Based on a photograph of CJ's left hand, Peltier testified that the water appeared to have settled at the wrist area and that the fingers were likely raised. (VI:1254).

From the photographs, Peltier concluded that CJ's hands "were in two completely different positions" and were not restrained by a caretaker during the incident. (VI:1252, 1254, 1258). Peltier concluded that "this appears to be a very careful slow, deliberate pour" of extremely hot water "very close to the hand". (VI:1262;1289). Peltier testified that Donovine could have held CJ's hands right under the faucet and turned the hot water on "very slow", though he admittedly knew nothing about the water pressure in the house. (VI:1270).

Although Peltier had not performed any recreations in this case and did not have a background in biomechanics, the court allowed Peltier to evaluate several hypothetical mechanisms that could have resulted in accidental burns to CJ's hands and explain why each of those mechanisms was unlikely or impossible. (VI:1263-1271,1275). Peltier claimed that he

"considered all of the possibilities" and could not "conceive of any way [CJ] would have been able to move that cup to self-inflict those burn patterns." (VI:1288,1301). Peltier ultimately concluded that the liquid "wasn't tipped over by [CJ]. It was done by someone else." (VI:1301).

State's "Child Abuse" Expert - Sandra Cett

Cetl graduated from the University of Vermont College of Medicine in 2007 and completed her residency in pediatrics at UNLV in 2010. (I:102). Since 2010, she has worked at Sunrise Hospital as a child abuse pediatrician. (I:102).

At trial, Cetl claimed she never examined CJ personally, and that her opinions were solely based on her review of photographs, medical records, and a brief consultation with CJ's treating physician. (V:1142,1178).

Cetl testified that Donovine's version of events was "inconsistent" with the burn patterns she saw on CJ's hands. (V:1162-63). Cetl testified that if CJ had accidentally pulled a cup of water down from above, she would expect to see "pooling" in CJ's tee shirt (which they did not find), along with burns on CJ's forearms and shoulders, and not just on the backs of his hands. (V:1173). If the burns had occurred accidentally, Cetl would also expect to see more splash marks than appeared in the photographs, and she would expect to see burns on CJ's "exploratory areas" like the palms of

his hands. (V:1163-65,1169). However, the palms of CJ's hands were "spared". (V:1164-65). Based on the burns' "uniform" appearance, Cetl opined that CJ was unable to reflexively pull away from the water; unlike Peltier, Cetl believed that CJ's hands had been restrained. (V:1166).

Although Cetl had no background in biomechanics and had performed no recreation experiments in this case, the court also permitted Cetl to opine about a number of hypothetical mechanisms that could have caused accidental burns and assert why each of those mechanisms was unlikely or impossible. (V:1179-86). Cetl testified that having accidental bilateral burns on the backs of both hands was "as next to impossible as it comes." (V:1171).

<u>Donovine's Expert – Dr. Lindsey "Dutch" Johnson</u>

In order to establish his defense theory and refute the State's experts, Donovine retained biomechanics expert Lindsey "Dutch" Johnson, PhD, to identify a possible mechanism whereby CJ could have accidentally burned the backs of his own hands. (II:363-64,366).

Dr. Johnson was eminently qualified to render an expert opinion in this case. Dr. Johnson received his PhD in mechanical engineering and biomechanics from Georgia Institute of Technology in 1998, his MS in mechanical engineering and biomechanics from Oregon State University in 1992, and a BS in mechanical engineering from Oregon State University in 1990. (I:204). Dr. Johnson specializes in the biomechanics of human injury and has 15 years of forensic reconstruction experience, as well as 8 years of scientific research experience in human soft tissue mechanics and human impact force mechanics.(I:203;II:264). Dr. Johnson has extensive experience with skin injury patterns, including those associated with "bruises, abrasions, scratches, lacerations, cuts as well as burns on human skin". (IV:920). As a biomechanics expert, he worked on 3-4 other cases involving liquid burns. (IV:923-24). Dr. Johnson is a licensed private investigator in the state of Arizona where he maintains his business, Wiltshire Forensic Biomechanics, LLC. (I:204).

Based on the available data,⁵ Dr. Johnson hypothesized that CJ's burn patterns were caused either by a spill from left-to-right, or from right-to-left, that occurred when CJ reached over the counter and tipped the mug over. (II:376;IV:936-37). To test his hypothesis, Dr. Johnson conducted a number of scientifically controlled experiments using a total of three toddlers (two for the preliminary experiments, and one surrogate for the final experiment), a counter top of the same height as the subject counter top, and an exemplar

⁵ This data included the subject counter height, the subject mug dimensions and manufacturer, the water level within the mug, the location of the mug on the counter, CJ's height and hand size, and the burn patterns on CJ's hands as depicted in photographs. (I:376-77;IV:925-28).

mug⁶ filled with cool water to the level indicated by Donovine in his statement. (II:376). Dr. Johnson conducted preliminary experiments to vary the unknowns, such as the toddler's hand positions relative to one another, the mug position relative to the toddler's hand, and mug tipping force, in such a way that would result in a spill pattern similar to the burn patterns seen on the backs of CJ's hands. (II:376). After identifying the relationships between these unknowns. Dr. Johnson conducted a final experiment using a surrogate toddler with the same approximate hand size and height as CJ, which resulted in a spill pattern across the backs of his hands very similar to the burn patterns seen on CJ's hands in the photographs. (II:376). Dr. Johnson's experiments were controlled by known standards and had numerical error rates associated with each measurement. (II:381-84).

Based on his experiments, Dr. Johnson concluded that the burns sustained to the backs of CJ's hands were "consistent with the subject mug of hot water being initially located on the counter top to the left of his hands,

⁶ The mug was a replica of the same make/model identified by Donovine in the reenactment video and photographed by the LVMPD. (IV:928).

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