IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DONOVINE MATHEWS,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Dec 18 2017 11:26 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 72701

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009285 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

2. Appellant was given the opportunity to fully cross-examine Dr. Olson

Appellant surmises that Dr. Cetl must have examined [C.J's] hands in the emergency room based on a conversation between DePalma and Dr. Olson outside of the courtroom. AOB at 45-46. Appellant argues that he should have been able to ask Dr. Olson about the alleged conflict between Dr. Olson's and Dr. Cetl's conclusions. Id.

When Appellant alleged that an improper communication occurred outside of the courtroom while the exclusionary rule was invoked, the district court conducted a hearing to determine the substance of the conversation outside the courtroom between DePalma and Dr. Olson. 6 AA 1989-90. The district court concluded that the allegations of an examination by Dr. Cetl that conflicted with Dr. Olson were unfounded. 6 AA 1989-90.

In addition to the fact that Dr. Olson testified that he never saw Dr. Cetl examine C.J. in the hospital, the district court explained:

The Court: Okay. I believe that Cetl didn't treat him in the ER because there would have been a medical report. It would be outrageous for there to be a lack of medical record especially in a case like this.

6 AA 1418; 6 AA 1396.

The district court also determined that Dr. Olson was upset because he thought the State could have gotten all of the testimony through Dr. Cetl, and therefore, he was called to testify needlessly. 6 AA 1420. Further, the district court cautioned Appellant that "I'm not sure you have to embarrass him in front of the jury by having him acknowledge that he's pissed off he's here." 6 AA 1420.

At trial, disregarding the district court's instruction, Appellant asked Dr. Olson whether Dr. Cetl was involved in the case. 6 AA 1414. The State objected as the question was irrelevant, hearsay, and speculative. 6 AA 1416-17.

This case was not a question of two doctors finding different burn conclusions. 6 AA 1419. Appellant's question was speculative because Dr. Olson did not know what Dr. Cetl's conclusions were. 6 AA 1419. The district court properly ruled that Appellant's question was irrelevant because as the State explained Dr. Olson's anger was sourced by detectives getting a consult from Dr. Cetl and not due to a conflicting opinion. 6 AA 1384.

This Court should deny Appellant's claims due to his failure to show how such questioning would have advanced his theory of the case since Dr. Cetl and Dr.

Olson both concluded that the burns were intentional and not accidental as Appellant argued. 5 AA 1171; 6 AA 1409-10.

3. Appellant was given the opportunity to fully cross-examine Peltier

Appellant argues that he was denied the opportunity to effectively cross-examine Peltier because Appellant did not receive Peltier's notes until trial. AOB at 48-49.

Appellant's argument lacks merit and is belied by the record. Mann, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230. In response to Appellant's argument at trial that he was ambushed with new information, the district court explained:

The Court: Like what? He doesn't have any conclusions. It looks like two pages of factual things that you would have already known. He has some thoughts. I don't even know if those are conclusions. Those appear to be thoughts and then something about defendant statements. This appears to be [Peltier] writing down actual facts that everybody knew about.

5 AA 1218.

Therefore, Appellant was not ambushed and he was not denied the opportunity to prepare an effective cross-examination.

4. The photographs of C.J.'s burned hands were properly admitted

Appellant argues photographs admitted at trial of C.J.'s burned hands were prejudicial and testimonial in nature. AOB at 49.

The admission of photographs is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and absent an abuse of this discretion, the decision will be upheld. Greene v. State, 113 Nev. 157, 931 P.2d 54, 60 (1997).

At trial, Appellant objected to the introduction of Exhibits 14-25 claiming that the photographer who took the pictures was required to lay foundation. 5 AA 1055. The State responded that appropriate foundation was laid because Jasmin was present with her son when the pictures were taken by UMC staff. 5 AA 1054. When presented with the proposed exhibits, Jasmin responded that she recognized the photos, saw the injuries herself, and that the pictures fairly and accurately depicted C.J.'s injuries on the day he was burned. 5 AA 1054. Therefore, foundation was laid by the State to introduce Exhibits 14-25.

Furthermore, the photographs were not improperly admitted because Appellant would have the opportunity to cross-examine Jasmin to determine if the colors of the pictures appeared altered by a filter. 5 AA 1055. Therefore, the district court correctly overruled Appellant's objection and admitted the photos because appropriate foundation was laid. 5 AA 1057.

Appellant fails to cite any authority to support his claim that photograph's Exhibit's 14-25 were testimonial in nature. In <u>Bullcoming v. New Mexico</u>, 564 U.S. 647, 664, 131 S. Ct. 2705 (2011), the court held that a forensic laboratory report was testimonial because it required a scientist to test a sample, formulate an analysis and

prepare a report. The pictures in this case did not require any analysis at all. The child was simply told the put out his hands so a picture could be captured. Therefore, Appellant's claim that the photographs were impermissible testimonial evidence claim must fail.

5. Appellant was given the opportunity to fully cross-examine Jasmin

"The district court has considerable discretion in determining the admissibility of evidence and this court will not disturb a district court's ruling absent an abuse of that discretion." <u>In re Termination of Parental Rights as to N.J.</u>, 116 Nev. 790, 8 P.3d 126, 135 (2000).

The district court properly sustained the State's objections

Appellant argues that he was precluded from cross-examining Jasmin and proving Appellant lacked the motive to harm C.J. by sustaining the State's objections. AOB at 50. First, he argues the district court improperly sustained the State's objection when Jasmin was asked if she ever saw Appellant spank J.J. 5 AA 1089; AOB at 50. Second, he argues the district court improperly sustained the State's objection when Appellant asked Jasmin about Appellant's experience caring for other children. AOB at 50; 5 AA1090, 1093-94.

The district court sustained the State's objections because the questions were irrelevant and speculative. 5 AA 1090, 1093-94. The court explained that the District Attorney had not opened the door as to explaining motive and that how Appellant

acted around everyone else's children were not relevant to the instant case. 5 AA 1091. Regardless of Appellant's claims, any alleged error was harmless because the jury was instructed that it could consider evidence of motive or lack of motive as a circumstance in the case. 2 AA 436.

Appellant was able to impeach Officer Bethard

Appellant argues the district court improperly prevented Appellant from asking Jasmin about CJ's, a two-year-old's, communications with Officer Bethard at the hospital. 5 AA 1099; AOB at 52.

"The jury is the sole and exclusive judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given their testimonies." <u>Dorsey v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 951, 954, 620 P.2d 1261, 1263 (1980).

Appellant's claim is belied by the record as Appellant was able to impeach. 5 AA 1099. After the hearsay objection was sustained, Appellant was able to rephrase the question. Appellant asked Jasmin "did Officer Bethard ask [C.J] how he was injured" and "did [C.J.] answer him in some way." 5 AA 1099. Jasmin answered affirmatively to both questions thereby impeaching Officer Bethard. 5 AA 1099. The fact the jury ultimately weighted the credibility of Officer Bethard and DePalma above Jasmin despite impeachment does not substantiate a claim that Appellant was denied an opportunity for cross-examination.

///

IV. The district court properly instructed the jury

Appellant argues that the district court improperly denied Appellant's proposed jury instruction on "accident/misfortune" and by doing so denied Appellant of his opportunity to present his theory of the case. AOB at 53. At trial, Appellant requested that the jury to be instructed as follows:

A person who committed an act or made the omission charged, through misfortune or accident, when it appears that there was not evil design, intention or culpable negligence, must be found not guilty of the charge.

7 AA 1520; 1686.

The State objected to the instruction and explained:

In this case, the evidence of the defense theory is that the defendant did not do any act, let alone an act by accident or with the intention. The jury is informed as to what the intent is that needs to be with the action taken. So the jury will be properly instructed as to the need to have an intent to willful cause of the injuries to C.J. and this instruction is improper

7 AA 1521.

Nevada law gives the court discretion to decide whether a jury instruction is correct and pertinent. NRS 175.161(3). In fact, a district court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 746, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). The district court abuses its discretion only when the "decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Id. It is not error to refuse to give an instruction when the substance of that instruction is substantially

covered by another jury instruction. <u>Ford v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 209, 211, 660 P.2d 992, 993 (1983).

Further, erroneous jury instructions are subject to harmless error review. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155-56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000). An instructional error is harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error[,]" and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. Id. A district court must not instruct a jury on theories that misstate the applicable law. Vallery v. State, 118 Nev. 357, 46 P.3d 66, 76-77 (2002).

Appellant contends that if the accident/misfortune instruction was given, it "could have" lead the jury to determine that Appellant accidentally burned C.J.'s hands. Appellant at the last minute of trial while settling jury instructions, concocted the argument to the court that the proposed instruction was proper because Appellant could have accidentally burned C.J's hands while attempting to wash them but made up a story afterwards because "he felt bad about what happened." AOB at 55. This is a gross misrepresentation of Appellant's theory of the case. Not a shred of evidence was presented to the jury to support Appellant's new claim. Appellant argued throughout his entire trial that he was not in the room when C.J. was burned and could not know how exactly how the burns happened. 6 AA 1437-3; 5 AA 1043;

6 AA 1437-38; 2 AA 329. Therefore, no evidence was presented that would permit such an instruction.

Additionally, any error was harmless as explained below in the cumulative error section. Thus, a new trial is not required because the jury was properly instructed.

V. The district court properly precluded Appellant from arguing an improper statement of the law.

Appellant alleges the district court improperly sustained the State's objection to Appellant's argument during closing. Appellant argued:

The State is asking you to convict Donovine beyond a reasonable doubt when they cannot even explain to you why he would do something like this. No motive is reasonable doubt

7 AA 1569.

The State moved to strike arguing that Appellant was arguing facts not in evidence. 7 AA 1576-77. The district court sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard. 7 AA 1576-77.

The purpose of closing arguments is to enlighten the jury, and to assist in analyzing, evaluating, and applying the evidence, so that the jury may reach a reasonable conclusion. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 132 Nev. ____, 371 P.3d 1036, 1045 (2016). However, counsel must make it clear that the conclusions that he or she urges the jury to reach are to be drawn from the evidence. <u>Id</u>. The crime of Child Abuse,

Neglect, or Endangerment does not require that the State prove motive as an element.

NRS 200.508.

The court properly struck Appellant's argument because it improperly instructed the jury that the State needed to prove motive to find Appellant guilty. Moreover, Appellant's closing did not enlighten the jury in applying the evidence because Appellant argued facts, not in evidence. 7 AA 1576-77. Appellant's arguments were not proper, therefore, they were properly stricken.

Appellant contends that the State improperly argued that Appellant could have burned C.J by the hot water in the mug or by holding his hands under the faucet. AOB at 58. During closing argument, trial counsel enjoys wide latitude in arguing facts and drawing inferences from the evidence. Greene v. Nev., 113 Nev. 157, 177, 931 P.2d 54, 67 (1997). The State argued facts that were in evidence. Peltier testimony was that C.J's burns were consistent with an emersion burn. 5 AA 1247, 1269. Therefore, a new trial is not required.

VI. Appellant's trial was fair

Appellant argues that district court was "so clearly biased against" Appellant and that its discriminatory treatment was seen particularly in closing argument. AOB at 59. "Judicial misconduct must be preserved for appellate review, and the failure to object or assign misconduct will generally preclude review by this court." <u>Oade</u> v. State, 114 Nev. 619, 621-22, 960 P.2d 336, 338 (1998). For the Court to entertain

this allegation, the misconduct would have to rise to the level of plain error. <u>Id</u>. This Court and the United States Supreme Court have often held: "A defendant is not entitled to a perfect trial, but only a fair trial . . ." <u>Ennis v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 530, 533, 539 P.2d 114 (1975).

Neither judicial misconduct nor plain error occurred in this case. Appellant did not make an objection or a record to preserve a claim of judicial misconduct for appeal. Accordingly, Appellant waived his claim of judicial misconduct. Therefore, this Court should not grant Appellant a new trial.

VII. There is no error to cumulate

This court has held that under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although individual errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to a fair trial." <u>Big Pond v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 692 P.2d 1288 (1985).

The relevant factors to consider in determining "whether error is harmless or prejudicial include whether 'the issue of innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged." <u>Big Pond</u>, 101 Nev. at 3. The doctrine of cumulative error "requires that numerous errors be committed, not merely alleged." People v. Rivers, 727 P.2d 394, 401 (Colo. App. 1986).

Evidence against the defendant must, therefore, be "substantial enough to convict him in an otherwise fair trial and it must be said without reservation that the

verdict would have been the same in the absence of error." Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 724, 765 P.2d 1153 (1988).

First, the issue of innocence was not close. After a five day trial with multiple expert witnesses, law enforcement witnesses, and the victim's mother's testimony, the jury convicted Appellant of the crime he was charged with. 2 AA 448. The jury was able to review photos that preserved the scene where the burn occurred, view Appellant's voluntary reenactment video, and hear the voluntary interview that took place between DePalma and Appellant.

Appellant was the only adult left with C.J. in the apartment at the time the burns occurred. 5 AA 1034. Experts explained that the types of burn patterns that scarred C.J.'s hands were not the result of an accidental spill. 5 AA 1147-52; 6 AA 1301; 5 AA 1171; 6 AA 1409-10.

Additionally, Appellant's defense that he was outside the room making coffee when C.J. was burned lacked corroborating evidence and is why the jury refused to believe him. As the State noted, when asked by DePalma where the coffee was, Appellant was unable to find it. 6 AA 1356-57.

The district court did not commit error. The errors Appellant alleges are bare and naked, and are merely repetitive allegations of improper judicial conduct due to the denial of permitting Johnson to testify. Even if the court did commit error, any error was harmless because of the amount of evidence that was presented that the

burn patterns on C.J's hands were not accidental. 5 AA 1147-52; 6 AA 1301; 5 AA 1171; 6 AA 1409-10.

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